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Edward E. Yates, Esquire SB# 135138
LAW OFFICE OF EDWARD E. YATES
20 Skylark Drive, Suite 12
Larkspur, CA 94939
Telephone: (415) 990-4805
Email: eyates@marinlandlaw.com

Jack Silver, Esquire SB# 160575
LAW OFFICE OF JACK SILVER
708 Gravenstein Hwy. North, # 407
Sebastopol, California 95472-2808
Telephone: (707) 528-8175
Email: JSilverEnvironmental@gmail.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff
CALIFORNIA RIVER WATCH

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

CALIFORNIA RIVER WATCH, an
IRC Section 501(c)(3), non-profit, 
public benefit corporation,

Plaintiff,
v. 

GUALALA REDWOOD TIMBER, LLC;
DOES 1 through 10, Inclusive,

Defendants.
                                                                  /

CASE NO.  3:17-cv-00376

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY
RELIEF, INJUNCTIVE RELIEF AND
REMEDIATION

[Environmental - Endangered Species Act  -
16 U.S.C. § 1531 et seq.]

NOW COMES Plaintiff CALIFORNIA RIVER WATCH (“RIVER WATCH”), an

Internal Revenue Code Section 501(c)(3), non-profit, public benefit corporation, by and through

its attorneys, and for its Complaint against Defendants  GUALALA REDWOOD TIMBER, LLC

and DOES 1 - 10, INCLUSIVE (collectively hereafter, “GRT”),  states as follows:

I.   INTRODUCTION

1. The United States Fish and Wildlife Service (“FWS”) and National Marine Fisheries

Service (“NMFS”) declared the following fish species inhabiting the Gualala River watershed

in Sonoma and Mendocino Counties as threatened or endangered under the Endangered Species

Act, and have designated critical habitat for these species and/or Distinct Population Segments
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(“DPS”) or Evolutionary Significant Units (“ESU”) of these species:

C In 2005, the NMFS declared the Coho salmon as endangered.  A Recovery Plan

was published in 2012.

C In 2006, the NMFS declared the Steelhead trout as endangered.  Critical habitat

was designated in 2005 and a Recovery Plan was published in 2011.

The above-identified species are collectively referred to hereafter as “the Salmonids”.

2. This is a civil action brought by RIVER WATCH under the federal Endangered Species

Act (“ESA”) 16 U.S.C. § 1531, et seq., to prevent GRT from ongoing violations of the ESA and

regulations pertaining to the Salmonids.  RIVER WATCH contends GRT is violating ESA § 9,

16 U.S.C. § 1538, by conducting timber logging operations as part of the Dogwood Timber

Harvesting Plan, which operations include reconstructing skid roads, felling and dragging trees,

increasing sediment deposits to the Gualala River in flood prone areas of Redwood forest

adjacent to the Gualala River, constructing and using landings near and in the Gualala River and

conducting other destructive land management practices which harmed and are harming the

Salmonids and which practices have significantly modified and degraded the critical habitat of

the Salmonids, all without obtaining the necessary permits or carrying out necessary mitigations.

3. RIVER WATCH seeks declaratory relief and injunctive relief to prohibit future violations

and any other relief for GRT’s violations of the ESA allowed under law.

II.   JURISDICTIONAL ALLEGATIONS

4. Subject matter jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court by  ESA § 11(g)(1)(A), 16 U.S.C.

§ 1540(g)(1)(A), which states in part, 

“any person may commence a civil suit on his own behalf . . . (A) to enjoin any
person, including the United States and any other governmental instrumentality 
or agency (to the extent permitted by the eleventh amendment to the
Constitution), who is alleged to be in violation of any provision of this Act or
regulation issued under the authority thereof. . .”

5. The district courts shall have jurisdiction, without regard to the amount in controversy or

the citizenship of the parties, to enforce any such provision or regulation, or to order the

Secretary to perform such act or duty, as the case may be. Under the ESA, “the term ‘person’

means an individual, corporation, partnership, trust, association, or any other private entity; or
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any officer, employee, agent, department, or instrumentality of the Federal Government, of any

State, municipality, or political subdivision of a State, or of any foreign government; any State,

municipality, or political subdivision of a State; or any other entity subject to the jurisdiction of

the United States.” ESA § 3(13), 16 U.S.C. § 1532(13).

6. Members of RIVER WATCH rely on GRT to comply fully with the ESA § 9’s “take”

prohibitions which ensure that citizens do not contribute to the harm or take of species listed as

endangered or threatened with extinction such as the Salmonids.  Said members derive scientific,

recreational, conservation, spiritual, and aesthetic benefits from the preservation and protection

of these threatened and endangered species including the Salmonids.  Said members have spent,

and plan to further spend, time in the habitat of the Salmonids hoping to observe them. The

interests of RIVER WATCH and its members are adversely affected by GRT’s actions as set

forth in this Complaint.  Said interests have been, are being, and unless the requested relief is

granted, will continue to be adversely affected and injured by GRT’s failure to comply with the

ESA § 7.  On or about October 14, 2016, RIVER WATCH served a Notice of Violations of the

ESA and of RIVER WATCH’s intent to file suit, to GRT and to the United States Secretary of

the Interior or Commerce as required by the ESA.

7. The United States is not currently prosecuting any criminal action to redress GRT’s

violations as alleged in this Complaint, nor have the Secretaries of the Interior or Commerce

acted to impose a penalty pursuant 16 U.S.C. § 1540(a). Therefore this action may be

commenced in accord with ESA § 11(g)(2)(A); 16 U.S.C. § 1540 (g)(2)(A).

III.   INTRADISTRICT ASSIGNMENT

8. The basis for assignment of this case to the Northern District of California, pursuant to

16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(3)(A), is that the violations of ESA complained of herein are located within

this District; and, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), GRT resides in and/or conducts business

within this District. 

IV.   PARTIES TO THE ACTION

9. Plaintiff CALIFORNIA RIVER WATCH is  an Internal Revenue Code Section 501(c)(3)

nonprofit, public benefit corporation duly organized under the laws of the State of California,
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with headquarters located in Sebastopol, California and mailing address at 290 North Main

Street, #817, Sebastopol, California.  RIVER WATCH is dedicated to protecting, enhancing and

helping to restore the aquatic environs of California and the biota dependent upon these

environs, as well as educating the public concerning the threats to these environs from activities

such as those complained of herein.

10. RIVER WATCH is informed and believes, and on said information and belief alleges,

that Defendant GUALALA REDWOOD TIMBER, LLC is now, and was at all times relevant

to this Complaint, a limited liability corporation registered with the California Secretary of State

to do business in California, doing business in the Counties of Sonoma and Mendocino, and

having an ownership interest in real property located in said Counties (the “Site”), and

conducting timber operations under Timber Harvesting Permit # THP 1-15-042-SON, issued by

the California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection on approximately 402 acres of land

within the Site designated on Timber Harvest Plan applications as being located at “on the

alluvial flats primarily on the east side of South Fork of the Gualala River, along the south side

of the main stem of the Gualala River, along the north side of the Wheatfield Fork and Buckeye

Creek and along the Big and Little Pepperwood creeks.”  Further site descriptions of timber

operations in the area of the Site are: Mouth of the Gualala 1113.850202; Big Pepperwood

1113.850201; Little Creek 1113.830004; Annapolis 1113.840303 on USGS 7.5 min maps:

Gualala 1977; Stewarts Point 1978; and McGuire Ridge 1991. 

11. The true names and capacities of Defendants DOES 1-10, Inclusive, whether individual,

corporate, or otherwise, are presently unknown to RIVER WATCH, who therefore sues

defendants by said fictitious name.  RIVER WATCH is informed and believes and on such

information and belief alleges, that each of said fictitiously-named defendants is responsible in

whole or in part for the acts alleged herein. RIVER WATCH will seek leave of the Court to

substitute the true names of said fictitiously-named defendants when the same have been

ascertained.

12. RIVER WATCH alleges that at all relevant times herein, each Defendant was the agent,

representative, employee, surrogate, partner, or joint venturer of each other Defendant and in
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doing the actions alleged herein, acted within the scope of his/her/its authority as such agent,

representative, employee, surrogate, partner, or joint venturer and acted with the permission and

consent of each of said Defendants.

V.   STATUTORY BACKGROUND 

13. The ESA is designed to “provide a means whereby the ecosystems upon which

endangered species and threatened species depend may be conserved, to provide a program for

the conservation of such endangered species and threatened species.” 16 U.S.C. § 1531(b).

Principal among the ESA’s system of species protection is the Section 9 prohibition rendering

it illegal for any “person” to “take” any species listed as endangered. 16 U.S.C. § 1538(a)(1)(B).

“Take is defined in the broadest possible manner to include every conceivable way in which a

person can ‘take’ or attempt to ‘take’ any fish or wildlife.” Defenders of Wildlife v.

Administrator, EPA, 882 F.2d 1294, 1300 (8  Cir. 1989). The term “take” is defined as “toth

harass, harm, pursue, hunt, shoot, wound, kill, trap, capture, or collect, or to attempt to engage

in any such conduct.”16 U.S.C. § 1532(19). Harm or harassment includes significant habitat

modification or degradation. 50 C.F.R. § 17.3; Palila v. Hawaii Department of Land and Natural

Resources, 639 F.2d 495 (9  Cir. 1981); see also Palila v. Hawaii Department of Land andth

Natural Resources, 852 F.2d 1106 (9  Cir. 1988).  “Take includes direct as well as indirect harmth

and need not be purposeful.” Babbitt v. Sweet Home Chapter of Communities for a Great

Oregon, 515 U.S. 687, 704 (1995).   A take may even be the result of an accident.  See National

Wildlife Federation v. Burlington Northern Railroad, 23 F.3d 1508, 1512 (9  Cir. 1994).  th

14. Critical habitat is a habitat area essential to the conservation of a listed species though the

area need not actually be occupied by the species at the time it is designated. DPSs and ESUs

denote particular populations or sub-populations of a species meriting specific scrutiny and

protection. These are specific terms and designations within the ESA. To cause or contribute to

the significant modification or destruction of critical habitat or damage to a DPS or ESU, or to

otherwise degrade such critical habitat is to “take” that species regardless of whether the actions

result in actual injury or death.  Modification of critical habitat such as occurred on the Site as

herein described, including conducting timber operations, are practices which harm and harass
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the Salmonids and fall within the ESA’s “take” prohibition. RIVER WATCH further contends

GRT’s timber operations on the Site interfere with the Salmonids’ feeding and reproduction

activities, by damaging habitat, eliminating food sources, and interfering with natural shelter

from predators.  GRT’s continued timber harvesting practices harm and harass the Salmonids

by eliminating their habitat or creating a more hostile environment.

VI.   THE SALMONIDS

15. The Coho salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch) was federally listed under the ESA on June 28,

2005 (70 Fed. Reg. 37160) and by National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration

(“NOAA”) fisheries as an endangered species in California.  This listing included Final Listing

Determinations for 16 ESUs of West Coast Salmon, and Final Protective Regulations for

Threatened Salmonid ESUs.  (See also May 5, 1999 critical habitat designation of ESU for Coho

Salmon - 64 Fed. Reg. 24059.)  The Coho Salmon is state-listed as endangered in California. 

The September 2012 Recovery Plan for the species is currently being implemented by the NOAA

fisheries.

16. The Gualala River Watershed lies within the Central California Coast Coho Salmon ESU. 

Coho Salmon need riverine habitats that include cool clean water, appropriate water depth and

flow velocities, riparian vegetation to stabilize soil and provide shade, clean gravel for spawning

and egg-rearing, large woody debris to provide resting and hiding places, adequate food and

varied channel forms.

17. Logging, agriculture, mining, urbanization, stream channelization, dams, wetland loss,

water withdrawals and unscreened diversions for irrigation contribute to the decline of the

Central Coast Coho Salmon ESU. Land use activities associated with logging, road construction,

urban development, mining, agriculture, and recreation have significantly altered the quantity

and quality of its habitat.  (61 Fed. Reg. 56138).

18. The Steelhead trout (Oncorhychus mykiss) is federally listed under the ESA as a

threatened species in California, and State-listed as threatened in California.   The Steelhead was

listed as threatened under the ESA (55 Fed. Reg. 26114) on January 5, 2006 (updated on April

14, 2014, 70 Fed. Reg. 834).  The June 28, 2011 Recovery Plan is currently being implemented
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by the NOAA Fisheries. Critical habitat for ten (10) west coast Steelhead DPS was designated

on September 2, 2005 (70 Fed. Reg. 52488, 52630). Critical habitat was designated for the

Gualala River and two (2) tributaries within the biological assessment area of the Site.

19. Steelhead thrive best where dissolved oxygen concentration is at least 7 parts per million.

In streams, deep low-velocity pools are important wintering habitats. Spawning habitat consists

of gravel substrates free of excessive silt. Threats to Steelhead are attributed to historic and

current effects of intensive logging practices on the availability  of  in-stream  large  wood, 

reduced  habitat  complexity  and  shelter, and sediment generated from poor road construction

throughout the northern coastal forests. (See NOAA Fisheries, Coastal Multi-species Recovery

Plan, October 2015.)

VII.   STATEMENT OF FACTS

20. GRT owns and controls the Site and has conducted timber operations under Timber

Harvesting Permit #THP 1-15-042-SON (“Dogwood THP”) issued by the California Department

of Forestry and Fire Protection on approximately 402 acres of land within the Site designated

on Timber Harvest Plan applications as being located at “on the alluvial flats primarily on the

east side of South Fork of the Gualala River, along the south side of the main stem of the Gualala

River, along the north side of the Wheatfield Fork and Buckeye Creek and along the Big and

Little Pepperwood creeks.” 

21. The Site contained a mature redwood forest ecosystem alongside the lower part of the

Gualala River.  Due to its location near the Gualala River, the area contained extensive

floodplain redwoods in which most of the ground is wetland or moist most of the year.  The Site

had not been logged in several years and wetland and native plant species continue to exist or

have developed in the area during that time.

22. A nearby segment of the Gualala River has been designated by the State of California,

as “Wild and Scenic.”  At the same time, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency listed the

Gualala River under Clean Water Act § 303(d) as an impaired watercourse for both temperature

and sediment.

23. RIVER WATCH contends that from August 15, 2016 to September 4, 2016, GRT
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engaged in timber operations on the Site which operations included the use of heavy equipment

in floodplain areas, water drafting, cutting and felling of trees, hauling and dragging of downed

trees, skidding of trees, and road construction or reconstruction or maintenance.  GRT used

heavy machinery in skid trails and other areas of the Site and dragged downed timber on a

network of skid trails.  These logging activities disturb floodplain, wetlands and sensitive plants

that are found in or adjacent to the skid trails.

24. Timber operation disturbances by GRT in the floodplain of the lower Gualala River, such

as skid road reuse or construction, heavy equipment operation, log felling and removal, slash

removal or stockpiling, have caused substantial, long-term, persistent, or effectively irreversible

direct and indirect long-term impacts to sensitive riparian redwood understory vegetation.  The

recovery time required by shade-adapted understory vegetation following logging disturbances

is likely to require many decades at the least, and is likely to lag behind regeneration of mature

redwood forest over story structure.

25. RIVER WATCH contends GRT is drafting water out of the Gualala River for use in

watering skid trails. These impacts of water drafting on summer flows of the Gualala River and

its tributaries has significant impacts on water quality (temperature, dissolved oxygen, algal

production), pool stability (rapid drawdown and pool bed emergence before monitoring feedback

to drafting occurs) and survivorship of juvenile of the Salmonids.

26. RIVER WATCH contends GRT uses landing areas in the Gualala River to store, transfer

and load felled timber.  These landing areas and the drafting of Gualala River water will cause

impacts to the Salmonids’ aquatic habitats.  Steelhead occur in all reaches of the Gualala River

and tributaries within and adjacent to the timber harvesting areas of the Site.  Coho Salmon are

likely to occur on tributaries of the North Fork and Little North Fork. The drafting of water,

increase in sediment due to use of heavy equipment, displacement of soil due to tree felling and

dragging, and disturbance of floodplain habitat has altered in-stream and floodplain habitat

conditions, thereby harming current populations of the Salmonids. 

27. Such activities often result in reduction in soil invertebrate productivity in forested

floodplain areas subject to timber harvest operations, and cause significant disturbances and
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habitat modification to the Salmonids (lasting at least one and probably several years after

disturbance during the 5 year timber harvesting period). Vehicle and equipment operations

expose mineral subsurface soils, disturb organic-rich surface soil, and litter horizons reducing

ephemeral prey availability to the Salmonids during brief but critically important floodplain

submergence events.

VIII.   GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

28. RIVER WATCH alleges that the timber logging operations by GRT as identified in this

Complaint were carried out during 2016 and will continue into 2017; and, that the timber logging

operations and continued maintenance of the current conditions on the Site and activities carried

out by and/or conducted under the direction of GRT on the Site, have modified and degraded the

vegetation and habitat for the Salmonids and thus harmed and/or harassed the Salmonids. 

29. RIVER WATCH alleges that GRT, as owner and operator of the Site, modified habitat,

including critical habitat of the Salmonids resulting in the harm and/or harassment of the

Salmonids due to interference with feeding, migration, breeding and/or sheltering.  As a result

GRT is liable for a “take” under both the definitions of “harm” and “harassment”, ESA  §

9(a)(1)(B), 16 U.S.C.  § 1538(a)(1)(B).  This harm and harassment is continuing as timber

logging operations on the Site have permanently destroyed critical habitat essential to the

survival of the Salmonids.

30. Today, there remain fragile populations of the Salmonids. A certain critical mass is

necessary to insure survival.  Every loss of critical habitat as well as a member of the Salmonids

is cumulative, and if not abated, will certainly lead to their extinction.  RIVER WATCH alleges

that due to GRT’s actions and activities as alleged in this Complaint, the Salmonids’ critical

habitat has been substantially modified and degraded.  The Salmonids will become extinct if

violations of the ESA, such as that of GRT as set forth in this Complaint, are not addressed.

IX.   STATE COURT PROCEEDINGS

31. On August 4, 2016, a Petition for Writ of Mandate was filed in Sonoma County Superior

Court challenging the approvals granted for the Dogwood THP (Forest Unlimited, et al vs.

California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection, Case No. SCV-259216.   The Petition
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alleges that by approving the Dogwood THP on July 1, 2016,  California Department of Forestry

and Fire Protection violated the California Environmental Quality Act and Forest Practice Act. 

On September 14, 2016 the Court granted Petitioners’ Motion for Stay of Decision and

Preliminary Injunction for all Dogwood THP logging operations.   The Court cited Petitioners’

identification of potential affects to sensitive, protected wetlands as support for granting the

injunction.   A hearing date to consider the Petition has been set for March 23, 2017.

X.   CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(ESA § 9, 16 U.S.C. § 1538)

The “Take” of an Endangered Species

RIVER WATCH incorporates the allegations set forth in Paragraphs 1 through 31 above

as though fully set forth herein, and alleges as follows:

32. GRT has violated ESA § 9 and its implementing regulations by causing a direct and/or

indirect (“take”) of protected species by substantially modifying, degrading and/or destroying

critical habitat of the Salmonids, and/or by killing and/or harming the Salmonids when

conducting timber harvesting operations and activities on the Site.  16 U.S.C. § 1538; 50 C.F.R.

§ 17.31.

33. Due to the failure to mitigate the “take,” as well as GRT’s continued land management

practices, RIVER WATCH alleges GRT’s violations of the ESA as set forth in this Complaint

are ongoing and will continue after the filing of this Complaint.  RIVER WATCH alleges herein

all violations which may have occurred or will occur prior to trial, but for which data may not

have been available to RIVER WATCH prior to the filing of this Complaint. RIVER WATCH

will amend the pleadings as necessary to address further violations of the ESA by GRT which

may occur after the filing of this Complaint.

34. RIVER WATCH is informed and believes, and on such information and belief alleges,

that without the imposition of appropriate equitable relief, GRT will continue to violate the ESA

with respect to the Salmonids.  RIVER WATCH is further informed and believes, and on such

information and belief alleges, that the relief requested in this Complaint will redress the injury

to RIVER WATCH including the Salmonids, prevent future injury and protect the interests of
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the members of RIVER WATCH whose interests are, or may be, adversely affected by GRT's

violations as set forth in this Complaint.

XI.   PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, RIVER WATCH prays this Court grant the following relief:

35. Declare GRT to have violated and to be in violation of ESA § 9 by conducting activities

on the Site that modify, degrade and destroy critical habitat of the Salmonids thereby causing an

illegal “take”;

36. Issue an order for GRT to mitigate the harm to the Salmonids and their habitat caused by

the activities of GRT as alleged herein;

37. Issue an injunctive order enjoining GRT from continuing to conduct timber harvesting

operations and other land management practices on the Site that constitute a “take”;

38. Issue an injunctive order requiring GRT to mitigate the harm caused to the Salmonids by

the previous destruction of critical habitat;

39. Issue an injunctive order requiring GRT to fully cooperate with resource agencies with

responsibility over wildlife;

40. Order GRT to pay RIVER WATCH’s reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs (including

expert witness fees), as provided by 16 U.S.C. § 1540 (g)(3)(A)(4) and applicable California

law; and,

41. Grant such other and further relief as may be just and proper.

DATED: January 25, 2017 LAW OFFICE OF EDWARD E. YATES

By:                                                        
Edward E. Yates
Attorney for Plaintiff 
CALIFORNIA RIVER WATCH

LAW OFFICE OF JACK SILVER

By:                                                   
Jack Silver
Attorney for Plaintiff
CALIFORNIA RIVER WATCH
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